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DESCRIBE THE PRESENT AND ORIGINAL (if known) PHYSICAL APPEARANCE

Since its construction in the late 1820's, Estevan Hall
has undergone extensive alterations. Available evidence
suggests that the original structure was rectilinear in
shape with a long veranda on the front and rear. Hand
hewn beams and timbers with wooden pegged joinery were
used.,

The house was built on a sloping hill site; consequently,
a retaining wall of brick was used. The house rests on

a one storey brick enclosed basement. In an excellent
adaptation of the site, the house was built over a natural
spring which permitted use of an easily accessible water
supply and a cool storage vault in the basement.

The present structure is an eclectic mixture of many
architectural features with no prevalent architectural
style. At best a "southern colonial" description could
be used, indicating a raised structure with long low
sweeping veranda to shade the house and permit outdoor
living during the hot, humid summers.

One senses:‘a New Orleans French influencec in the multi-
light arched windows of nearly floor to ceiling height
which pierce the front elevation at symmetrical inter-
vals. Especially noteworthy features include a large
Venetian doorway at the head of the long flight of
stairs rising to the veranda, and hooded dormers with
massive boxed cornices. One dormer contains a Venetian
window which is centered on the front entry.

The interior of Estevan Hall bears little resemblance to
the original, with the exception of boxed beam ceilings
reminiscent of pioneer construction techniques. A paneled
wainscot is used throughout with decorative wallpaper of
geometric design or pastoral scenes of Grecian ruins. A
boxed cornice continuous about each room is an unusual
feature. A thin band decorated with anthemions is con-
tinuous with the boxed cornice of one room.

A vast open lawn graces the approach to Estevan Hall and
compliments its southern colonial mansion image.

Interior alterations took place in 1919gwﬁ€§§k  present
owner moved into Estevan Hall as a new§b¥ide (déé\section
8, page 3). 1In 1953 the front Veraqg§VWaﬁ’§§%§ d to the
carport on the north side of the ho - A -

~J

}5

me-year the

ornate iron railing which was in ne f;ofwrepﬁ&% was- [replaced
with a railing of similar height-an esign .. The ar ver-
anda was removed some time between 1874 §§9E9,;\ d the
separate kitchen was joined to the main hous Ef,&
S
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STATEMENT OF SIGNIFICANCE

Estevan Hall, probably the oldest structure in Phillips
County, is a home whose history is intertwined with a
single family. Since its construction in the 1820's,
Estevan Hall has continually been owned and occupied by

a member of the Hanks family. The present owner is a
great-great-granddaughter of Fleetwood Hanks, the original
owner of Estevan Hall.,

Among the early settlers of Helena were the three Hanks
brothers, Fleetwood, James and Millinder. &n July 25,
1827, Fleetwood and Millinder Hanks bought a ten acre
tract on which Estevan Hall now stands. Their $100.00
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purchase price gave them an excellent location on which

to build a home. The Hanks Homestead was on the outskirts
of early Helena, but it was also a farm homestead. Though
the Helena of Fleetwood Hanks' day was often flooded by
the overflowing Mississippi River, the Hanks home was
located on a very high ridge, and therefore safe from
inundation.

The two Hanks brothers owned the homestead jointly until
1834, when Millinder deeded to Fleetwood one-half of the
tract "where F. Hanks now resides." The partnership of
the two brothers continued during their joint operation
of a mercantile store in Helena. Millinder Hanks' death
ended this association.

Fleetwood Hanks was active in county, territorial and
state government. From 1830-32 he served as Sheriff
of Phillips County. 1In Arkansas politics he was an
elected member of the Council of the Sixth Territorial
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NAME AND TITLE:

Dianna Kirk, Staff Historian and Anthony

S. Riddle, Architect

As the designated State Liaison Officer for the Na-
tional Historic Preservation Act of 1966 (Public Law

89-665), I hereby nominate this property for inclusion

in the National Register and certify that it has been

evaluated according to the c-iteria and procedures set
forth by the National Park Service. The recommended
level of significance of this nomination is:

National [T]

State [] Local X
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E. Henderson -

William

ORGANIZATION DATE

Arkansas Historic Preservation Program Aped 130, L9¥Y
STREET AND NUMBER:
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CITY OR TOWN: STATE CODE
Little Rock AR 05

Title State Historic Preservation

@fficer

Date 1974

June 11,

I hereby certify that this property is included in the

National Register.
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Director, Office of Archeology and Historic Preservation
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Keeper of Thé National Regi;ﬁéz;
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. Significance (Continued - Page 4)

The Hanks Homestead has probably been held by one family
longer than any other structural property 'in Arkansas. For
almost 150 years it has witnessed the daily events, both
large and small, in the lives of the Hanks family and their
friends.

Though the interior of Estevan Hall has been greatly al-
tered, the -exterior lines have retained their present
appearance during most of the last century. Fleetwood
Hanks' original house was probably not as imposing as is
the house today; however, from Judge Hanks' diaries comes
evidence that Estevan Hall has continually housed the Hanks
family since its late 1820's construction. In what must
be the earliest reference to historic preservation in
Arkansas, Judge Hanks recorded in his 1883 diary. "It is
slow and tedious work repairing old houses...."

The Hanks House is architecturally unusual in Arkansas.
Located on the Mississippi River, the/A870's alterations of
the Hanks House seems to have been strongly: 1nfluenced by

New Orleans French style prevalent flrther south on. the

river. Its raised base and long sweeplnngeranda alle features
of most ante-bellum plantation houses 1nlLouﬂsmana.

GPO 921.724
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8. Significance (Continued - Page 2)

Assembly, the House of Representatives of the Seventh
Territorial General Assembly, and the House of Represent-
atives in the Third General Assembly.

In June, 1827, Fleetwood Hanks married Frances Sanford,
the daughter of another early Helena family. The Hanks-
Sanford family ties were further cemented when John,
Frances' brother, joined Fleetwood Hanks in the mercantile
business after Millinder Hanks' death.

James Millinder Hanks (1833-1909) was Fleetwood Hanks'
youngest son. After attending college in Indiana and
Tennessee, James M. Hanks was graduated from the law

college of the University of Louisville in 1855. The next
year he was a member of Helena's first city council, and
soon after began a law practice in Helena with Charles W.
Adams. Following the Civil War James M. Hanks was made
judge of the First Judicial pistrict of Arkansas. In 1871
he was elected as a Democrat to the House of Representatives
in the 42nd Congress. Judge Hanks left the Democratic Party
in 1873 to become a member of the Grange. The organiza-
tional meeting of the Grange in Arkansas was held in Helena
on June 18, 1873, where Judge Hanks was elected to a minor
position in the Party.

'From 1865 until his death in 1909; Judge Hanks kept a de-
tailed diary. Each year's entry ls recorded in one volume,
and the complete 45 volume set still remains at Estevan
Hall. These diaries give a factual and picturesque account
of 19th century life in eastern Arkansas, and provide a
nique source of information to the researcher.

Judge Hanks made several references to his home during the
course of his writings. Throughout 1865 he often mentioned
efforts by the Hanks family to recover their home from
Union forces which had occupied the house during the Civil
War. By early 1866 the Hanks family was back in their home
and receiving promises from Dr. Smith, a Union medical
officer, that damages to the house would be listed in his
official report. Many believe Estevan Hall was used as a

hospital for wounded Union troops during the federal occu-
pation of Helena.
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In later diaries Judge Hanks made other references to his
house. On August 7, 1896, he wrote: "I have often heard
my father say frequently how that in 1826 when he was build-
ing this house, there was no rain from April till October."
Though this construction date preceeds the land acquisition,
both dates are in harmony w1th the late 1820's origin of

the Hanks House.

During the summer and fall of 1873 Judge Hanks noted repairs
and some modernizations to the house. 1In July of 1884 fire
struck Estevan Hall for the first time. Fortunately the
fire was confied to the kitchen, which was connected to the
main house only by a passageway.

After Judge Hanks died in 1909 the ownership of the house
passed to his adopted son, Harry Stephens. Orphaned after
his English parents emigrated to the United States, Stephens
married Judge Hanks' great-niece, Johnnie Porter, who was
descended from Fleetwood Hanks through his daughter Anne.
with this marriage, another Hanks returned to Estevan Hall.

As a new bride Mrs. Stephens made extensive changes to the
interior of the Hanks House. Her 1919 remodeling included
reroofing, moving the kitchen into a rear bedroom, changing
interior wall positions and ceiling heights, and removing
the outbuildings at the rear of the house. Except for minor
repairs and upkeep, Mrs. Stephens made no changes on the
exterior of the house.

The name "Estevan Hall" was given to the Hanks Homestead
when Mrs. Stephens moved into her great-grandfather's home.
With a Spanish flavor, Estevan Hall was named by Mrs.
Stephens to honor her new husband, Harry.

Besides hosting Hanks family weddings, Estevan Hall also
was the scene of the marriage of Helen Kellar's grand-
parents. Charles W. Adams, later the law partner of Judge
Hanks,and Lucy Helen Everett were married at Estevan Hall
on September 29, 1845.

GPO 921.724
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653 South Biscoe Street
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Mr. Charles A. Herrington b Qﬁ?QWﬁjwy
Office of Nomination and Review o HSPr
National Park Service NI R
Department of the Interior "\Gitu;ygéyf

Washington, D. C. 20240 —
Dear Mr. Herrington:
Thank you for your questions concerning our nomination of
Estavan Hall to the National Register of Historic Places.
Our responses to yur questions have been incorporated
into the nomination and are as follows:
1. dquestions on description
A paragraph answering these three questions has
been added at the end of Section 7.

2. Is this house type unusual for Arkansas?
See paragraph added to end of Section 8.

3. How is this significant: as a '"one-family" residence?
See Section 8, page 4, paragraph 1.

We look forward to receiving approval of this nomination in
the near future.

Sincerely,

| . s p
A‘,l([_ ARG L,K 1/

Dianna S. Kirk
Staff Historian
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Z’htevm Eall Helena
Phillips County
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Conway County
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Hon, John L. McClellan State Historie Preservation Officer

Hon, J, W. Fulbriczht Hr, Willfam E, Henderson

Hon. Bill Alexander, Jr. Director

Hon. Wilbur D, Mills Arkansss Departuent of Parks snd Tourisam

State Capitol - Room 149
Regional Director, Southwest Region  Little Rock, Avkansas 72201
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